
 

  

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

 

CASE NO. ______________________ 

 

 

HATZOLOH, INCORPORATED  

d/b/a CHEVRA HATZALAH, 

 

 Plaintiff,       

v. 

 

HATZALAH OF PALM BEACH, INC., 

HATZALAH OF SOUTH FLORIDA, INC., and  

ISAAC HERSH 

 

 Defendants. 

_____________________________________/ 

 

COMPLAINT FOR INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 

 

 Plaintiff, HATZOLOH, INCORPORATED d/b/a CHEVRA HATZALAH (“Chevra 

Hatzalah”), through counsel, sues Defendants, HATZALAH OF PALM BEACH, INC. (“HPB”), 

HATZALAH OF SOUTH FLORIDA, INC. (“HSF”) and ISAAC HERSH (“Hersh” and together 

with HPB and HSF jointly referred to as “Defendants”) and states: 

INTRODUCTION 

1. This action arises from Defendants’ infringement and counterfeiting of Plaintiff 

Chevra Hatzalah’s registered service marks. Plaintiff seeks permanent injunctive relief and 

attorney’s fees against Defendants for violations of the Lanham Act (Counts I, II and III). 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

2. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction of this action pursuant to 15 U.S.C. 

§§ 1114, 1116, 1117, 1118, and 1121; 28 U.S.C. § 1331; and 28 U.S.C. §§ 1338(a) and 1367, 

because this case involves a federal question arising under the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1051, et 

seq. 
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3. Personal jurisdiction and venue are proper in this Court because Defendants 

transact business in this District, and Plaintiff is being harmed in this District by the willful 

infringing conduct of Defendants, 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(2).  Defendants also reside in this District 

as defined in 28 U.S.C. § 1391(c) and promote and market Defendants HSF’s and HPB’s services 

in this District in violation of the Lanham Act and are thereby subject to personal jurisdiction in 

this District.  

PARTIES 

4. Plaintiff Chevra Hatzalah is a not-for-profit corporation organized under the laws 

of the State of New York, having its principal place of business at 1070 McDonald Ave., Brooklyn, 

New York 11230. 

5. Defendant HSF and Defendant HPB are each not-for-profit corporations organized 

and doing business under the laws of the State of Florida, and each has its principal place of 

business at 10811 Cambay Circle, Boynton Beach, Florida 33437.  

6. Upon information and belief, Defendant Isaac Hersh is an individual residing in 

Palm Beach County, Florida. and is directly responsible for causing Defendants HSF and HPB to 

engage in the infringing activities set forth in Counts I, II and III. 

CHEVRA HATZALAH’S RIGHTS IN THE MARK 

7. Plaintiff Chevra Hatzalah is a non-profit corporation and by itself, or through its 

related entities, operates the largest all-volunteer ambulance service in the United States. It 

provides premium quality pre-hospital emergency medical treatment and transportation at no cost 

to all in need, regardless of race, religion or ethnicity. Chevra Hatzalah was founded in New York 

in 1965 and has since become a model for similar volunteer rescue and ambulance services 
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throughout the world. Chevra Hatzalah is nationally-renowned for providing the public with 

exemplary services. 

8. Chevra Hatzalah and its related entities respond to over 60,000 medical 

emergencies annually. Chevra Hatzalah and its related entities operate throughout several states, 

including the State of Florida.  

9. Chevra Hatzalah and its related entities rely on over 1600 volunteers to respond to 

emergency calls, including emergency medical technicians, paramedics, physician assistants and 

MDs, who collectively are on call 24 hours a day, 7 days a week, 365 days a year, throughout 

several states, including the State of Florida.  Many of these emergency care providers are also 

trained in search and rescue. Chevra Hatzalah volunteers are highly committed to responding to 

emergency calls, often leaving their jobs, homes, Sabbath meals, Passover Seders, and children’s 

graduation ceremonies to save lives.  

10. Chevra Hatzalah is the owner of U.S. trademark registrations for multiple 

trademarks covering the transportation of patients to health care facilities, and for educational 

services, namely, sponsoring classes, conference, seminars, and public announcements in the field 

of emergency medical training, safety and health care awareness. These HATZALAH marks in 

their various forms and spellings are in current use, with the earliest use beginning in the 1960s.  

11. Specifically, Chevra Hatzalah owns U.S. Service Mark Registrations for marks 

incorporating its mark HATZALAH or variations thereof as follows:  

Mark U.S. Reg. No. Goods and Services 

HATZOLAH 87851478 Transporting of patients to health care facilities. 

Educational services, namely, sponsoring classes, 

seminars, and public announcements in the field 

of emergency medical training, safety and health 

care awareness. Providing emergency medical 

care.  

(first use in commerce: May 1986) 
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HATZALAH 5712449 Transporting of patients to health care facilities. 

Educational services, namely, sponsoring classes, 

seminars, and public announcements in the field 

of emergency medical training, safety and health 

care awareness. Providing emergency medical 

care.  

(first use in commerce: October 1987) 
 

CHEVRA 

HATZALAH 

2131729 Transporting of patients to health care facilities. 

Educational services, namely, sponsoring classes, 

seminars, and public announcements in the field 

of emergency medical training, safety and health 

care awareness. Providing emergency medical 

care.  

(first use in commerce: 1971) 
 

HATZOLOH 

 

2111646 Transporting of patients to health care facilities. 

Educational services, namely, sponsoring classes, 

seminars, and public announcements in the field 

of emergency medical training, safety and health 

care awareness. Providing emergency medical 

care.  

(first use in commerce: 1969) 
 

 

(collectively, the “HATZALAH Marks”; copies of the registrations are attached hereto as 

Composite Exhibit A.).  

12. Chevra Hatzalah promotes and offers its services under the HATZALAH Marks 

throughout the United States, including, but not limited to, the State of Florida, including in this 

District.  Because of the extensive and continuous use of the HATZALAH Marks in commerce, 

including advertising, promotion and the provision of services under the HATZALAH Marks, 

consumers throughout the United States (including in this District) have come to associate and 

recognize the HATZALAH Marks as symbols of the services offered by Chevra Hatzalah or its 

related entities. 

Case 9:21-cv-82092-DMM   Document 1   Entered on FLSD Docket 11/17/2021   Page 4 of 12



 

 
 

 5 

13. Chevra Hatzalah has been providing services in South Florida since at least as early 

as 2010 through its licensee Hatzalah South Florida Emergency Medical Services, Inc.  

DEFENDANTS’ DELIBERATE MISCONDUCT 

14. Defendants’ use of the HATZALAH name and mark in the same geographic market 

as Chevra Hatzalah’s authorized licensee, as more fully described below, is not only likely to cause 

confusion in the marketplace as to the source of Defendants’ services, but Defendants are  

deliberately causing such confusion by actually claiming an affiliation or association with Chevra 

Hatzalah. 

15. On or about May 2020, Chevra Hatzalah learned that Defendants had started 

promoting and planning to offer emergency medical services using the names and marks 

HATZALAH, HATZALAH OF PALM BEACH, HATZALAH OF SOUTH FLORIDA and 

HATZALAH OF BROWARD COUNTY (the “Infringing Marks”).   

16. Despite Chevra Hatzalah’s repeated demands to Defendants to cease their use of 

the Infringing Marks, Defendants have continued to use the Infringing Marks without authorization 

from Chevra Hatzalah. Defendants’ unauthorized use of the HATZALAH Marks includes use on 

emergency vehicles, personnel uniforms as well as other advertising and promotional literature, 

such as in the form shown below: 
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17. Defendants have used the Infringing Marks with knowledge of Chevra Hatzalah’s 

rights in the HATZALAH Marks. In fact, two of the founding members of Defendants HSF and 

HPB are former members of Chevra Hatzalah or Chevra Hatzalah-affiliated organizations. 

18. Defendants’ use of the HATZALAH mark is not innocent.  They have deliberately 

sought to promote a false association between Defendants and Chevra Hatzalah, representing 

themselves to the public as a “branch” or affiliate of Chevra Hatzalah. Indeed, Defendants misled 

a Palm Beach news station to report that Defendants are affiliated with Chevra Hatzalah. In an 

October 26, 2021 broadcast on WPBF Channel 25 News in Palm Beach, the reporter repeated 

Defendants’ misrepresentations: 

“The founder of the palm beach county branch tells me that Hatzalah has been providing 

services like this throughout the country since the 1960s.”   

 

See WPBF Channel 25 Palm Beach, Hatzalah of Palm Beach County Now Providing Services, 

available at https://www.wpbf.com/article/hatzalah-of-palm-beach-county-now-providing-

services/38059 528.  

 

19. Defendant Hersh continued the misrepresentation that Defendants and Plaintiff 

were one and the same in an article in published in the South Florida Sun Sentinel, by providing 

the following quote:  

“This organization has been serving Jewish communities throughout the globe since the 

1960′s, but Palm Beach County, with the large Jewish population that we have here, has 

unfortunately not had this organization.”  

 

See South Florida Sun Sentinel, Hatzalah providing emergency medical services in Palm Beach 

County, available at https://www.sun-sentinel.com/florida-jewish-journal/palm/fl-jj-palm-beach-

hatzalah-services-20211105-7wqo3k4zofa6rb4pest3f33p2u-story.html. 
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20. Further, upon information and belief, Defendants have even contributed to a 

Wikipedia page listing Chevra Hatzalah chapters to incorrectly state that “a New Chapter [of 

Hatzalah] has formed in Palm Beach County”: 

 

See Wikipedia.com, List of Hatzalah Chapters, available at https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki /List_of_ 

Hatzalah_chapters#Florida. 

21. The likelihood of confusion caused by Defendants’ use of the Infringing Marks is 

not only likely to cause confusion in the marketplace, but their conduct clearly demonstrates an 

intent to create such confusion, mistake or deception with respect to the association of Defendants 

with Chevra Hatzalah, or as to the origin, sponsorship or approval by Plaintiff of Defendants’ 

services.  

22. The likelihood of confusion resulting from Defendants’ use of the Infringing Marks 

in South Florida is heightened by the fact that Chevra Hatzalah already has a licensee operating 

under the HATZALAH name and mark in South Florida for over 10 years. Thus, confusion is not 

only likely, but inevitable.   

23. Moreover, the services offered by Defendants in connection with the Infringing 

Marks are of far inferior quality to the services offered by Chevra Hatzalah and its related entities 

in connection with the HATZALAH Marks.  
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24. Chevra Hatzalah has been, and continues to be, injured by Defendants’ 

unauthorized and unlawful use of the Infringing Marks.  Defendants’ use of the Infringing Marks 

has caused, and will continue to cause, irreparable harm to Chevra Hatzalah and its goodwill and 

reputation under the HATZALAH Marks unless enjoined by this Court. 

25. At all relevant times, Defendant Hersh has directly controlled the continued 

unauthorized use of the HATZALAH Marks by Defendants HSF and HPB, and has directed, 

participated in, ratified, or otherwise assisted the unauthorized—and hence infringing—use of the 

HATZALAH Marks.  As the active moving force behind Defendants HSF’s and HPB’s 

infringement, Defendant Hersh is jointly and severally liable for the acts of infringement set forth 

herein. 

COUNT I 

INFRINGEMENT OF FEDERALLY REGISTERED SERVICE MARKS 

(15 U.S.C. § 1114)  

 

26. Plaintiff Chevra Hatzalah repeats and realleges each of the allegations contained in 

Paragraphs 1 through 25 of this Complaint as if fully set forth herein. 

27. Defendants have infringed Plaintiff Chevra Hatzalah’s rights in the HATZALAH 

Marks in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1114. 

28. Given the notices provided to Defendants by Plaintiff Chevra Hatzalah, 

Defendants’ agents’ former affiliation with Chevra Hatzalah and Defendants’ deliberate and public 

attempt to confuse consumers into believing that Defendants are affiliated with Chevra Hatzalah, 

Defendants’ infringing activities are with full knowledge of Chevra Hatzalah’s rights, willful and 

intentional. 

29. These willful and intentional acts of infringement have caused and are causing great 

and irreparable injury and damage to Chevra Hatzalah’s business and goodwill and reputation in 
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an amount that cannot be ascertained at this time and, unless restrained, will cause further 

irreparable injury and damage, leaving Chevra Hatzalah with no adequate remedy at law. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff Chevra Hatzalah has been damaged and demands judgment 

against Defendants, jointly and severally, for the following:  

(a) a permanent injunction enjoining Defendants, their officers, directors, servants, 

agents, employees, volunteers, attorneys and representatives, and each of them, and those parties 

acting in concert or participating with them, from using any more marks confusingly similar to the 

HATZALAH Marks in connection with the advertising or sale of their services; 

(b) an award of Plaintiff’s attorneys’ fees under 15 U.S.C. § 1117(a); and 

(c) such other relief as this Court deems proper. 

COUNT II 

COUNTERFEITING OF FEDERALLY REGISTERED SERVICE MARK 

(15 U.S.C. § 1116(d)) 

 

30. Plaintiff repeats and realleges each of the allegations contained in Paragraphs 1 

through 25 of this Complaint as if fully set forth herein.  

31. This is an action for counterfeiting of a federally registered mark under 15 U.S.C. 

§ 1116(d).  Defendants’ continued unauthorized use of the Infringing Marks, which are identical 

or substantially indistinguishable from the HATZALAH Marks, constitutes counterfeiting as 

defined by 15 U.S.C. § 1116(d)(1)(B). 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff Chevra Hatzalah has been damaged and demands judgment 

against Defendants, jointly and severally, for the following:   

(a) a permanent injunction enjoining Defendants, their officers, directors, servants, 

agents, volunteers, employees, attorneys and representatives, and each of them, and those parties 
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acting in concert or participating with them, from using any more marks confusingly similar to the 

HATZALAH Marks in connection with the advertising or sale of their services;  

(b) an award of Plaintiff’s attorneys’ fees under 15 U.S.C. §§ 1116(d) and 1117(b); and 

(c) such other relief as this Court deems proper. 

COUNT III 

FALSE DESIGNATION OF ORIGIN 

(15 U.S.C. § 1125) 

 

32. Plaintiff repeats and realleges each of the allegations contained in paragraphs 1 

through 25 of this Complaint as if fully set forth herein. 

33. This is an action for false designation of origin in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1125(a). 

Defendants’ use of the HATZALAH Marks constitutes a false designation of origin and/or false 

description or representation, which is likely to deceive consumers and prospective customers into 

believing that Defendants’ services originate from, or are licensed by, sanctioned by, sponsored 

by, or in some way affiliated with Plaintiff Chevra Hatzalah in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1125(a). 

34. Given the notices provided to Defendants by Plaintiff Chevra Hatzalah, 

Defendants’ agents’ former affiliation with Chevra Hatzalah and Defendants’ deliberate and public 

attempt to confuse consumers into believing that Defendants are affiliated with Chevra Hatzalah, 

Defendants’ activities are with full knowledge of Chevra Hatzalah’s rights, willful and intentional. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff Chevra Hatzalah has been damaged and demands judgment 

against Defendants, jointly and severally, for the following:   

(a) a permanent injunction enjoining Defendants, their officers, servants, agents, 

employees, volunteers, attorneys and representatives, and each of them, and those parties acting in 

concert or participating with them, from using any more marks confusingly similar to the 

HATZALAH Marks in connection with the advertising or sale of their services;  
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(b) an award of Plaintiff’s attorneys’ fees under 15 U.S.C. §§ 1125(a) and 1117(a); and 

(c) such other relief as this Court deems proper. 

JURY DEMAND 

 Plaintiff hereby demands trial by jury on all issues so triable. 

 

Dated: November 17, 2021   Respectfully submitted,  

      By: s/ Steven I. Peretz______________ 

      Steven I. Peretz (Fla. Bar No. 329037) 

Michael B. Chesal (Fla. Bar No. 775398) 

Alberto Alvarez (Fla. Bar No. 106859) 

PERETZ CHESAL & HERRMANN, PL 

      1 S.E. 3rd Avenue., Suite 1820 

      Miami, Florida 33131 

      Tel: 305-341-3000 

      Fax: 305-371-6807 

      speretz@pch-iplaw.com 

      aalvarez@pch-iplaw.com  

 

Counsel for Plaintiff, Hatzoloh Incorporated d/b/a 

Chevra Hatzalah  
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